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The architecture of Teutonic Order castles in the 
Che m region has been explored for a long time and 
is still an important topic, as is evidenced by recent 
academic and popular publications on the architec-
ture of the Teutonic Knights state.1 These publica-
tions are only partly based on systematic archaeo-
logical and architectonic research, which so far has 
been carried out only in selected castles. The castles 
of the Che m area are an architectonic, historic and 
artistic phenomenon that singles the region out from 
other lands that belonged to the Teutonic Knights 
state between the 13th and the 16th century. Despite 
their unquestionable cultural, symbolic artistic and 
historical values, they have not been thoroughly re-
searched in an interdisciplinary perspective includ-
ing studies on architecture, art, building technology 
and widely understood material culture.

Such a research programme was initiated in 2005 
by the Section of the Archaeology of Architecture 
of the Institute of Archaeology in Nicolaus Coperni-
cus University (Toru!). In the case of the castles in 
Grudzi"dz and W"brze#no, which have not survived 
until today, the aim was to excavate the relics and 
examine their present condition. Another objective 
was to initiate a discussion on the form and stages of 

construction of those castles, which are only known 
from written or iconographic sources. As regards the 
castles in Radzy! Che mi!ski and Papowo Biskupie, 
the project was aimed at verifying the previous Þ nd-
ings concerning the settlements existing there before 
the Teutonic Order era, as well as the plan and form 
of the castles.

Papowo Biskupie

The castle was located on a small hill cut with 
wide shallow gorges2 (Þ g. 1). The high castle was 
built, according to various historians, between 1280 
and the 1st half of the 14th c.3 Some construction work 
was still being done at the beginning of the 15th c.4

At that time the earliest mentions of damage were 
recorded: 5 the northern wing was destroyed and 
many parts of the castle needed repair.6 A consider-
able damage was also caused by the war in 1454.7 
In the 16th c. the castle lost any military signiÞ cance 
and fell into decline.8 

Before 2005 no extended archaeological excava-
tions had been carried out in the castle. The aim of 
the excavations undertaken in 2005 was to explore 
the layers of material accumulated in the high castle 
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and the fore-castle, to establish chronological links 
between the excavated layers and the castle walls, 
and to reconstruct the history of the building on the 
basis of the excavated artefacts.

The research revealed the construction details of 
the spot footing of three castle wings. The level of 
footing was reached and the relationship between the 
walls and the revealed culture layers was established. 
Excavations were also carried out in the basements 
along the northern wing adjacent to the courtyard and 
in the basements of the western and southern wings. 
The research also brought valuable data on building 
technologies and details of castle interiors (Þ g. 2). 

The material and technologies used to build the 
castle in Papowo had been studied thoroughly in the 
1950s by I. S awi!ski.9 The relics of the fore-cas-
tle and the outer walls revealed in 2005 are varied 
in this respect (Þ g. 3-4). The walls of the fore-cas-
tle were built of granite blocks and pebbles, bound 
with lime mortar; the same material was used in 
the high castle. The surviving rims, jambs and wall 
coping at the ß oor level of the machicolation were 
built of bricks arranged in a mixed bond (squinch 
arches, window jambs and niches) or in the Ven-
dian bond (the wall face). The vaults and the Þ lling 
of the squinch arches were constructed of shorter 
bricks, known as “nines”. In the basements and on 
the ground and Þ rst ß oors there are surviving frag-
ments of pendentives in abutments and of cross 
vault arches. The chapel and the chapter-house, lo-
cated in the northern wing, had ribbed cross vault-
ing.10 The vault abutments were based on decorative 
limestone consoles (Þ g. 5).11 Some of the interiors 
were certainly covered with beam-framed ß oors, as 
is indicated by beam brackets. On the ground ß oor 
and in the basement there are characteristic slot-
ted openings made of granite blocks.12 The window 
openings in the chapel and the chapter-house were 
splayed on both sides and framed with ordinary and 
voussoir bricks. Other openings were constructed in 

a similar way – from the outside they were vertical 
embrasures framed with granite blocks and covered 
with stones or blocks13 (Þ g. 6). Only four doorways 
have survived until today but they are so badly dam-
aged that only remnants of rebates and recesses can 
be distinguished. The doorways on the Þ rst ß oor 
leading to the chapel and the chapter-house are in a 
similar condition. A little can be inferred about the 
gallery – it had two or three storeys. More details are 
known about the courtyard – excavations revealed 
well-preserved cobbles covering the pathway in the 
gallery and the underpinning of the arcade (Þ g.7). 
The courtyard, close to a square in shape, had a lean-
to roof, sloping towards the yard and covered with 
ceramic tiles.14 

Particularly exquisite among the castle interiors 
was the chapter-house, situated most probably on the 
Þ rst ß oor on the west side of the northern wing15 (Þ g. 
8). The room was covered with a three-bay ribbed 
vault supported with stone roots and clustered col-
umns with consoles.16 Five examples of such struc-
tures have survived in the chapel and eight in the 
chapter-house. In many places it is possible to dis-
cern fragments of various kinds of shaped bricks, 
used to soften the corners of window openings and 
recesses.17 In the chapel there were three pointed-arch 
windows in the northern wall and one in the western 
wall.18 Some interior details in the chapter-house are 
similar to those found in the castle in Gniew.19 

It is known that Jorge Beschiden, a famous vault 
builder, came to work in Papowo in 1405, and in 
1407 an anonymous carpenter was employed.20 It is 
not known, however, what works they did. The pro-
Þ le of the ribs suggests that the vaults were construct-
ed at the end of the 13th c., when the whole body of 
the castle was built. The Þ nds from the chapel include 
eight rib bricks of pear-shaped proÞ les, which were 
used since the end of the 13th c., and very popular in 
the 14th c. on a par with bricks with curves on both 
sides.21 Each of the shaped bricks found in the chapel 

9 I. S awi!ski, Opis techniczny do inwentaryzacji zamku 
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had the builder’s assembly marks; similar marks were 
found on ceramic elements in the castle in Malbork.22

The building materials found in the course of 
excavations in Papowo can be dated from the 14th 
to the 19th c. (Þ g. 9). Most of them comes from the 
backÞ ll layers accumulated during the deconstruc-
tion of the castle walls.23 Outside the castle, near its 
eastern wall, two fragments of a doorway reveal (?) 
were found, made of Þ ne-grained limestone. The re-
veal, of trefoil proÞ le, was formed of three adjoining 
shafts. Few ß oor-tiles were found, including only 
three unbroken specimens. 

Data on the castle foundations came from four 
trenches. They made it possible to reconstruct the 
building methods used in the Þ rst phase of the cas-
tle construction. In all the trenches the spot footing 
was reached. The continuous footing of the northern 
curtain wall was a solid structure located in a wide 
foundation trench. It was constructed of large er-
ratic blocks, partly dressed, arranged horizontally, 
with smaller blocks Þ lling the gaps, and bound with 
lime mortar. The trench next to the southern face of 
the southern wing wall revealed the face of the strip 
foundation, built of huge rocks, smaller errand blocks 
and little pebbles. 1.2 metres below the ground level 
a second set-off was found. To this level the stones 
were bound with lime mortar, while between the sec-
ond set-off and the footing - with clay. Another trench 
revealed a solid continuous footing of the northern 
wall of the southern wing. As the southern wing had 
cellars, the massive foundation for the walls was 
placed over four metres below the courtyard level 
(Þ g. 10). Archaeological research proved unquestion-
ably that the southern wing of the castle had also had 
a cellar (Þ g. 11). In the backÞ ll layer of this interior 
there was the coping of a partly demolished partition 
wall between two vaulted rooms of unequal height. 

Three trenches revealed remnants of the corner of the 
southern wing (the so-called ‘commander’s house’) 
and the western wing. In the south-eastern corner of 
the western and southern wing buildings a fragment 
of the wall coping was disclosed, as well as remnants 
of a stone reveal(?) of the southern wing entrance 
(Þ g. 12). The trench at the eastern face of the eastern 
outer wall revealed a fragment of a cellar with a well-
preserved support of a rib vault. 

Radzy  Che!mi ski

Radzy! Che mi!ski is located in the north-east-
ern part of the Che m region. The castle is situated 
on a small moraine hill24 (Þ g. 15). To the east of the 
castle there used to be a lake, now overgrown, on 
whose east-western side there had been a settlement 
since the 7th century. At the beginning of the 13th c. 
Radzy! was one of the major centres of Prince Kon-
rad’s administration. In 1218 the Radzy! estates 
were taken over by bishop Christian, and in 1231 
they passed to the Teutonic Order.25 The Þ rst men-
tion of the Radzy! commander comes from 1251.26 
The exact time of starting the construction of the 
castle is unknown; it is now assumed to be between 
1270 and 1330.27 Historical sources indicate that the 
main chapel existed before 1285. The whole castle 
was probably completed before 1329.28 It was de-
stroyed several times during the war between the 
Teutonic Order and Poland in the 15th c.29 and then 
during the Polish-Swedish war in the 17th c.30 The 
Þ rst serious conservation works were undertaken 
by Conrad Steibrecht in the years 1886-1890. Af-
ter WW II preliminary historical research was done 
and architectural inventories were carried out in the 
years 1956-1984 and 1988-1989. In 1961-1968 the 
cellars were partly cleared of debris and preserva-
tion works were undertaken.31 The Þ rst systematic 
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archaeological excavations were done in 1957,32 and 
further research was carried out in 1963-1964.33

The research undertaken in the years 2007-2009 
was aimed on the one hand at verifying the plan of 
the castle drawn in the 19th c. by Steinbrecht and on 
the other at exploring the western curtain wall and 
the construction details of the continuous footing 
(Þ g. 16). The trenches at the eastern face of the outer 
walls at the western side of the castle revealed rem-
nants of outbuildings. The layer under the ß oor and 
the cobbled surface contained fragments of ceram-
ic vessels and glazed stove-tiles dated to the 17th-
18th c. Also, the original face of the western base-
ment wall in the western wing was uncovered. Near 
the basement wall there was a regular aggregate of 
hand-shaped Gothic bricks, sized 30-32 x 15-15 x 
9-10 cm, piled on a 2 x 2.5 m surface. The arrange-
ment of layers and the brick ß ooring suggest that the 
Þ nal demolition of the cellar did not take place im-
mediately after the deconstruction of the vaults. This 
is evident from layers of debris, clay and soot that 
accumulated gradually during subsequent works and 
repairs (ryc. 17). The exploration of the parcham - 
the strip of ground between the western outer wall of 
the castle and the wall of the toilet tower (dansker) 
– brought technical data on the foundations of the 

western curtain34 (Þ g. 18). The results of the exca-
vations conÞ rmed the data from historical sources, 
according to which the western wing was in ruins 
already in the 15th c.35 and the restructuring work in 
the castle continued throughout the 16th c. The cel-
lar discovered under the ß ooring dated to the 17th c., 
covered with a cross vault, was probably liquidated 
as early as in the 16th c. 

Grudzi"dz

The castle in Grudzi"dz, like the castle in 
W"brze#no, has not survived until today. Its rem-
nants were explored in 2008 (after A. Paw owski’s 
death) and in 2009 (Þ g. 20). The key issue was to 
research the architecture of the castle and the phases 
of its construction. Until 2009 the knowledge about 
the castle was based only on inspection reports and 
inventories from the 15th -18th c., scarce iconograph-
ic sources and descriptions from the 19th and early 
20th c.36 All those sources indicated that the castle 
complex had consisted of the high castle, with the 
convent house located on the highest part of the hill, 
and the fore-castle, situated to the south of the high 
castle37 (Þ g. 21). The principal rooms of the convent 
were located in the southern wing, which was divid-
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ed into two unequal parts by the entrance passage. 
This building housed prison cells, storage rooms, the 
chapter house and the refectory. In its eastern part 
there was the castle chapel, dedicated to the Virgin 
Mary, completed in 1299. Over the main ß oor there 
were granaries and a machicolation along the south-
ern wall.38

All the historians interested in the origins of the 
castle complex assumed that the construction of a 
brick castle started in connection with establishing 
the commandry in Grudzi"dz.39 The descriptions of 
a visitation in 1667 and an inspection in 1739 men-
tion the castle chapel built around 1290 or 1299.40 It 
was supposed that the oldest brick buildings had al-
ready existed about the year 1267, when Grudzi"dz 
was the seat of the country master.41 Further men-
tions of the castle come from 1288 and 1291.42 In the 
1330s the castle must have been a complete fortiÞ -
cation, since in 1330 it was the headquarters of the 
Teutonic Order army Þ ghting with King Ladislaus 
the Elbow-high of Poland.43 All the analyses stress 
the irregular outline of the castle, whose trapezium 
shape places it in between irregular strongholds (e.g. 
Pokrzywno, Bierzg owo, Toru!), similar in form to 
East German feudal castles, and newer structures 
which evolved from the regular four-sided convent 

castle (the oldest regular strongholds were Branden-
burg, constructed in 1272 and Malbork/Marienberg, 
constructed c. 1274).44

The results of archaeological research conducted 
in 2008 and 2009 are largely convergent with the 
earlier assumptions about and reconstructions of the 
spatial arrangement of the castle. It was an irregular 
trapezium-shaped complex, dominated by the mas-
sive southern wing with the main gate leading into 
the courtyard. Its layout is reminiscent of the strong-
holds in Toru! or Ba ga.45 The excavations revealed 
its interior divisions and some relics of vaults. The 
western outer wall is only discernible in cuts. Small 
fragments of the western parcham buildings were 
disclosed but no fragments or even cuts of the north-
ern curtain could be found. The only well-preserved 
element of this part of the castle is the sewer and a 
fragment of the north-eastern corner, called the tra-
pezium cellar. Thanks to the architectural stratiÞ ca-
tion of the walls and to excavation results it was pos-
sible to distinguish six major phases in the history of 
the castle46 (Þ g. 22). The Þ rst phase, especially the 
date of starting the construction of the castle, was 
previously hypothesised to coincide with the ap-
pointment of the Þ rst commander of Grudzi"dz, i.e. 
c. 1250.47 However, a new analysis of the historical 
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sources suggests that the construction of the castle 
was probably started between 1270 and 1283.48 The 
Þ rst phase of the construction was probably limited 
to building a part of the southern wing and all the 
four curtains. The second phase was the building 
of the western part of the southern wing; this phase 
included the completion of the chapel in 1299. It 
seems that the western wing was started only in the 
third phase, i.e. after the completion of the southern 
wing, which had the Þ rst ß oor added. This phase 
ended with a construction disaster in 1388. In the 
fourth phase a narrow drain was built in the middle 
of the northern part of the outer wall, leading to the 
second fore-castle. At that time the parcham wall 
had already surrounded all of the high castle. This 
phase also included the completion of brick build-
ings along the northern curtain. In 1388 disastrous 
rainfalls caused the subsiding of the ground and the 
collapse of the buildings on the Vistula embankment, 
leading to intensive works in the castle in the 15th c. 
In the Þ fth phase the brick buildings at the western 
and northern curtains were Þ nished.49 It is unclear 
when the building in the north-eastern corner over 
the trapezium cellar was liquidated. The last inven-
tory of the castle, made in 1796, suggests that the 
buildings at the eastern curtain had already been de-
molished at that time. This phase was marked with 
the slow but irreparable degradation of the buildings 
surrounding the high castle.50 

W"brze#no

The last complex explored in the course of the 
project was the bishops’ castle in W"brze#no, whose 
remains are located in the north-eastern part of the 
town. The stronghold was erected on an artiÞ cially 
heightened end of a peninsula on the Castle Lake 
(Þ g. 23).51 The bishops’ residence looked like a typi-
cal convent castle of the Teutonic Knights (Þ g. 24). 
It was founded by the bishop of Che m, Herman 

von Prizna, before 1321. Its brick walls were based 
on a stone foundation. The complex consisted of a 
three-winged castle on a square plan, with an inter-
nal courtyard surrounded on three sides by one-axis 
residential wings, probably two-storeyed. On the 
eastern side the castle was closed by the outer wall 
with a high octagonal tower in the middle. Contact 
with defensive positions on the outer wall was main-
tained through the brick outbuilding protecting the 
gate.52 The elongated fore-castle was narrower at the 
eastern side, making a 117 m x 65 m trapezium. The 
fore-castle could be exited through gates in the outer 
walls and through the pillared bridge, whose part was 
a drawbridge, over the exceptionally wide moat.

The castle was rebuilt after the damage caused 
by the war of 1454-1466. The works were probably 
Þ nished around 1499.53 In the years 1611-1613 the 
complex was extended in the baroque style. After 
1655 the castle, damaged by a Þ re, fell into disrepair. 
Throughout the 19th c. the ruins were gradually being 
demolished. After WW II archaeological excavations 
were probably undertaken once but no information is 
available on the scope and results of that research. 54 
In the early 1960s the castle in W"brze#no, like many 
other historic buildings of the Che m region, was ex-
plored from the architectural perspective, which re-
sulted in preparing its inventory.55

The grandest part of the high castle was probably 
the southern wing, with St Mark’s chapel and the re-
fectory. It was surrounded by a brick gallery on the 
Þ rst ß oor level, with the ground ß oor occupied with 
utility rooms. In the remaining two wings on the Þ rst 
ß oor there were bishop’s apartments and rooms used 
as ofÞ ces, while the ground ß oor and the basement 
were used as armoury, storehouses and utility rooms 
(e.g. the kitchen), and the highest ß oor as a granary.56 
The only surviving remnants of the high castle are 
fragments of the octagonal tower, not exceeding two 
meters in height, a southern cellar with fragments 
of vaulting, and small fractions of the outer wall on 
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49 op.cit., p. 7.
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W!brze'nie, W"brze#no 2004, p. 9-17; 43-52; M. Rzeczkowska-

S awi!ska, Zamek biskupi w W!brze'nie, typescript, PSOZ [State 
Monument Conservation Service] in Bydgoszcz, 1961, p. 18-20; 
21-28; Zamek w W!brze'nie, Rocznik Grudzi"dzki, vol.4, 1965, 
p. 7-27; among others B. Guerquin, Zamki w Polsce, Warszawa, 
1974, p. 301-302.
52 J. Baci!ski op.cit., p. 43-52.
53 M. Rzeczkowska-S awi!ska 1961., p. 10, footnote 14.
54 J. Baci!ski, op.cit., p. 43, footnote 221.
55 M. Rzeczkowska-S awi!ska, op.cit..
56 M. Rzeczkowska-S awi!ska, op.cit., p. 23-26; J. Baci!ski, 
op.cit., p. 43 ff.  
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the eastern and western side. Analyses show that the 
foundations of the southern wing were slightly lower 
than in the other wings. It is supposed that the west-
ern and northern wings were built in the Þ rst phase 
of constructing the castle, while the southern wing 
was erected later.57 

Excavations were started in the south-western part 
of the southern wing in order to uncover the relics of 
the southern curtain wall and southern wing cellars 
(Þ g. 25). A major Þ nd was a meticulously set pebble 
pavement, marking the original level of the south-
ern wing basement. Other Þ nds included fragments 
of a brick vault pillar and relics of the southern cur-
tain, which had been almost completely demolished 
(Þ g. 26-27). Further excavations were made in the 
western wing to establish the level of the spot foot-
ing of the walls. Results indicate that the north-west-
ern corner was not part of the original design but 
was built during the reconstruction of the castle. It 
turned out that the continuous footing of the western 
and partly the southern wall of the wing had been 
placed on a demolition layer (burnt bricks and roof-
tiles), indicating a Þ re. This is probably a trace of 
the castle being reconstructed after it was damaged 
in the 1454-1466 war. Further digs revealed the wall 
coping of the interiors with staircases, marking the 
routes that used to link the cellars with the court-
yard (Þ g. 28). In the northern part of the parcham, 
between the eastern curtain and the fore-castle wall, 
remnants of a timber-framed building from the 17th-
18th c. were discovered. Its foundation, consisting 
of bricks and two layers of stones bound with lime 
mortar, was placed only 0.5 m below the ground. An 
important Þ nd in the north-eastern part of the castle 
was a well-discernible fragment of a stove. Its condi-
tion proves that this part of the castle was not totally 
destroyed and can still provide data on the functions 
and design of the rooms.58 Best-preserved relics of 
old architecture were found in the trench located in 
the embankment of the former moat and in the east-
ern parcham. Those were fragments of the brick 
wall of the parcham, which was simultaneously the 
facing of the moat, placed on a 202-cm-thick stone 

foundation (Þ g. 29-30). The whole facing structure 
that was discovered measures c. 385 cm, 95 cm of 
which is the foundation. The foundation was built of 
Þ eldstones, most probably arranged in layers. The 
face of the foundation and of the brick wall make 
one surface, without a set-off. Immediately on the 
foundation a layer of headers was placed, with the 
higher part of the wall exhibiting the Gothic bond. 
The face also includes irregularly placed overburned 
brick headers, forming no pattern.59 Finally, the ex-
cavations brought numerous pieces of ceramic de-
tails, including several kinds of shaped bricks, frag-
ments of a frieze/cornice, tracery, ß oor-tiles and 
roof-tiles. In the Che m region friezes made of very 
similar bricks can be found in the eastern façade 
of the post-cathedral church in Che m%a and in the 
church of Our Lady in Che mno, which were both 
completed in the Þ rst quarter of the 14th c., like the 
castle in W"brze#no60 (Þ g. 31). 

The project discussed above, carried out for sev-
eral years now, is aimed at initiating interdisciplinary 
studies of the Teutonic Order castles in the Che m 
region, combining issues of history, architecture, art 
and material culture, and applying achaeozoological 
and geomorphological analyses, in short at imple-
menting a professional research programme. The re-
search that has already been done has on the one hand 
stimulated new discussions based on entirely new ar-
chaeological and architectonic data, and on the other 
hand resulted in preparing conservation programs 
based on the exploration of historic brick substance 
both visible above the ground level and hidden be-
low. Such programs have already been worked out 
during the excavations in Radzy! Che mi!ski and Pa-
powo Biskupie by Dr Rajmund Gazda and Wroc aw 
Technical University, while in Grudzi"dz by the De-
partment of Fine Arts of Toru! University.
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